#### **UNIVERSITÄTSKLINIKUM HAMBURG-EPPENDORF**

Klinik und Poliklinik für Neurologie Prof. Dr. med. Christian Gerloff

# Role of neuroblast-derived signals in post-stroke neurovascular remodeling

#### Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg

vorgelegt von:

Tamal Bhadra Lengning aus Hamburg

Hamburg 2022

(wird von der Medizinischen Fakultät ausgefüllt)

Angenommen von der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg am: 24.03.2023

Veröffentlicht mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg.

Prüfungsausschuss, der/die Vorsitzende: PD Dr. Sonja Johann

Prüfungsausschuss, zweite/r Gutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Tim Magnus

## **Table of Contents**

1	INTRODUCTION	4
1.1	THE BURDEN OF ISCHEMIC STROKE	4
1.2		4
1.3	ANGIOGENESIS	5
1.5	NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING AFTER STROKE	8
1.6	PRELIMINARY STUDIES	9
1.7	CHEMOKINE (C-C-MOTIF) LIGAND 9	11
1.8		12
1.9	0 GROWTH-ARREST – SPECIFIC 6	14
1.1	1 STUDY DESIGN AND SPECIFIC AIMS	16
2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	18
21	MICE	18
2.2	LENTIVIRAL INJECTIONS AND PHOTOTHROMBOTIC MODEL OF ISCHEMIC STROKE	18
2.3	MIDDLE CEREBRAL ARTERY OCCLUSION MODEL AND HYDROGEL IMPLANTATION	20
2.4	ADMINISTRATION OF THYMIDINE ANALOGUES	22
2.5	I ISSUE PROCESSING	23
2.0	INFARCT VOLUME ANALYSIS	25
Z.8	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25
2.8 3	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 . <b> 26</b>
2.8 <b>3</b> 3.1	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING	25 26 26
3.1 3.2	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE	25 26 26 28
3.1 3.2 3.3 2.4	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 26 26 28 30
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 26 28 30 32 32 34
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 <b>4</b>	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 40
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS         RESULTS         ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING.         CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE         LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE.         CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY         LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS         WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS.         CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM         HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS.         DISCUSSION         ABSTRACT	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 40 44
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5 6	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 38 40 44 45
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5 6 7	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE COL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE COL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS DISCUSSION ABSTRACT ZUSAMMENFASSUNG ABBREVIATIONS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 38 40 44 45 47
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5 6 7 8	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 38 40 44 45 47 49
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5 6 7 8 9	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS DISCUSSION ABSTRACT ZUSAMMENFASSUNG BIBLIOGRAPHY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 38 40 44 45 47 49 55
2.8 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ISCHEMIC INJURY RESULTS IN POST-STROKE NEUROVASCULAR REMODELING. CCL9 AND WNT7A PROMOTE ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE . LOSS OF CCL9 ATTENUATES EC PROLIFERATION AFTER STROKE. CCL9 MODULATION ALTERS PERI-INFARCT VESSEL DENSITY LOSS OF CANDIDATE GENES IMPAIRS POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS WNT7A AND CCL9 PROMOTE POST-STROKE NEUROGENESIS. CCL9 DOES NOT ALTER VOLUME OF INFARCTION LONG-TERM HYDROGEL DELIVERY OF CCL9 PROMOTES ANGIOGENESIS. DISCUSSION ABSTRACT. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG ABBREVIATIONS. BIBLIOGRAPHY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. CURRICULUM VITAE.	25 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 38 38 38 40 41 45 47 49 55 56

### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 The burden of ischemic stroke

Stroke is the second leading cause of death and the third leading cause of death and disability combined in the world (Feigin et al., 2021). Ischemic stroke is the most common type of stroke, constituting almost 2/3 of all strokes in 2019, followed by intracerebral hemorrhage and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Due to improvements in acute care, many patients survive the acute stroke episode but must deal with longterm consequences including physical disability, cognitive impairment, depression and anxiety (Crichton et al., 2016). Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) remains the only FDA approved drug to treat acute stroke but is unavailable to many patients as it can only be used within a very narrow time window after ischemia. It is estimated that only 5% of patients with a stroke receive tPA acutely (Cramer, 2018). Even in patients who receive tPA in time, many patients suffer from long-term disability. It is estimated that if current trends continue, there will be more than 200 million stroke survivors and 13 million deaths from stroke annually by 2050 (Feigin et al., 2021). The total cost of stroke in Europe was estimated at EUR 60 billion in 2017: EUR 27 billion spent on healthcare, EUR 5 billion spent on nursing or residential care, EUR 16 billion spent on informal, unpaid care and EUR 12 billion attributed to lost productivity due to death and disability from stroke in working age individuals (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2020). Despite these grave statistics, there is no effective treatment that promotes long-term recovery after stroke.

#### 1.2 Mechanisms of brain repair

After ischemic injury, patients show some limited capacity for recovery. A plethora of preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated that ischemic injury itself induces a wide range of neurorestorative processes, as reviewed more extensively elsewhere (Carmichael, 2016; Hermann and Chopp, 2012). One example is axonal sprouting (Li et al., 2015). Stroke induces limited axonal sprouting in the adult brain, especially in peri-infarct cortex but also from distant sites like the contra-lesional hemisphere. Behavioral activity like forced forelimb use in rodents or constraint-induced motor

therapy (CIMT) in humans modulates and enhances this endogenous response. However, stroke does not only induce signals that promote axonal sprouting but also those that inhibit axonal sprouting and motor recovery. Ephrin-A5 is expressed in reactive astrocytes after stroke and inhibits axonal sprouting (Overman et al., 2012). Blockade of ephrin-A5 in combination with forced forelimb use results in wide-spread cortical axonal-sprouting and improved functional recovery after stroke. Stroke induced peri-lesional plasticity does seem to share similarities with plasticity associated with learning and memory (Carmichael, 2016). Tonic GABAergic signaling in the hippocampus has been implicated in long-term potentiation (LTP), inhibitors of alpha5-GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors enhance memory formation (Martin et al., 2010). Tonic GABA<sub>A</sub>-mediated neuronal inhibition appears to constrain plasticity in peri-infarct cortex. Pharmacological antagonism of tonic GABA signaling at a delay after stroke improves functional recovery (Clarkson et al., 2010). Positive allosteric modulators of AMPA receptors, known as ampakines, improve memory and learning. Delayed treatment with ampakines after stroke enhances motor recovery, mediated by downstream brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling (Clarkson et al., 2011). Another example is C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) (Joy et al., 2019). Inhibition of CCR5 has been shown to increase LTP and hippocampus-dependent learning in rodents. Stroke induces CCR5 expression in neurons; genetic or pharmacological knockdown of CCR5 promotes motor recovery. CCR5 knockdown results in upregulation of cAMP response element-binding protein and increased dual leucine zipper kinase signaling, preserved dendritic spines and enhanced axonal sprouting.

#### 1.3 Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis refers to the sprouting of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones, a process reviewed in a recent publication by Eelen et al. (2020). Release of proangiogenic factors from the microenvironment leads to activation of endothelial cells which in turn release matrix metalloproteinases to degrade the basement membrane. Tip cells, specialized endothelial cells, start to migrate towards the angiogenic signal and are followed by stalk cells, which are primarily involved in stalk

elongation and lumen formation through cell proliferation. Once tip cells of adjacent sprouts meet, they connect in a process termed anastomosis to form a new blood vessel. Vessel perfusion is a key driver of further vessel maturation including recruitment of pericytes and basement membrane deposition. Cerebral angiogenesis is highly active during embryonic and early postnatal development but downregulated in the adult brain. However, angiogenesis can reemerge in the adult brain in pathological conditions like tumor growth or brain ischemia (Carmeliet and Storkebaum, 2002).

Studies in the early 1990s by Krupinski and colleagues on post-mortem brain tissue from stroke patients provided first evidence for post-stroke angiogenesis in humans. The authors of the study found higher microvessel densities in the penumbra with evidence for angiogenic activity, i.e. immunoreactivity for markers of activated / proliferating endothelial cells as well as angiogenic activity of tissue extract in the chorio-allantoic membrane assay. Higher vessel counts correlated with longer survival (Krupinski et al., 1994, 1993). Rodent studies suggest that pro-angiogenic genes (e.g. vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor) are upregulated as early as one hour after ischemia and endothelial cells undergo cell division as early as one day after ischemia (Hayashi et al., 2003). Administration of VEGF, a major pro-angiogenic growth factor, 48 hours after ischemia promotes angiogenesis and functional recovery in rats (Zhang et al., 2000). However, administration 1 hour after stroke increases blood-brain-barrier (BBB) leakage, hemorrhagic transformation and ischemic lesion size, demonstrating the importance of timing.

#### 1.4 Neurogenesis

The subventricular zone (SVZ) is considered the largest germinal niche in the adult human brain (Obernier and Alvarez-Buylla, 2019). B1 cells at the lateral ventricle have neural stem cell (NSC) properties. These cells have apical processes that are in contact with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and sit between ependymal cells. B1 cells also have a basal process which can maintain contact to blood vessels. B1 cells have been shown to generate transient amplifying intermediate progenitors (or C cells) that can differentiate into migratory immature neurons (neuroblasts, type A cells). These neuroblasts then migrate along the rostral migratory stream (RMS) to the olfactory bulb where they differentiate into mature interneurons.

It was long believed that humans were unable to generate new neurons after birth. In a landmark study in 1998, a group around Fred H. Gage first presented evidence for neurogenesis in the adult human brain. The group looked at postmortem brain samples from cancer patients who had received 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU), a thymidine analog, for diagnostic purposes. The authors identified dividing (BrdU<sup>+</sup>) cells in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus which co-localized with markers like neuronal nuclear protein (NeuN), calbindin and neuron specific enolase. The group also identified BrdU<sup>+</sup> cells in the subventricular zone, lining the lateral ventricles, which morphologically resembled progenitor cells but did not appear glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)<sup>+</sup> or NeuN<sup>+</sup> (Eriksson et al., 1998).

Further evidence of adult human neurogenesis comes from studies using nuclearbomb-test derived carbon-14 (Spalding et al., 2013). Nuclear bomb testing during the cold war lead to elevated atmospheric carbon-14 levels which reacts with oxygen to form CO<sub>2</sub> which can be taken up by plants during photosynthesis and enters the food chain. During cell division carbon-14 is integrated into genomic DNA at a concentration related to atmospheric carbon-14 at that particular time. The authors used this strategy to birth date hippocampal cells in adult humans. They found evidence for substantial neurogenesis throughout adulthood with only a modest decline in old age. The authors estimated that 700 new neurons were added to the hippocampus per day.

While neuroblasts from the SVZ migrate along the rostral migratory stream to the olfactory bulb to mature into neurons in rodents, no neurogenesis in detectable in the adult human olfactory bulb (Bergmann et al., 2012) even though the human SVZ shows comparable levels of neural precursor cells. One explanation may be that these cells are migrating to a different site. In a 2014 study from the Frisén lab, the group demonstrates doublecortin (DCX) expression in the striatum at similar levels as

in the hippocampus on the mRNA and protein level. In a number of cancer patients who received the thymidine analogue Iododeoxyuridine (IdU) for diagnostic purposes, the authors found striatal IdU to colocalize with neuronal markers like NeuN, microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) and calretinin. Further, using carbon-14 birth dating, the group estimates that around 25% of neurons, primarily interneurons, turn over postnatally. The group hypothesized that the origin of these cells may be the SVZ (Ernst et al., 2014).

Ischemia leads to increased cell proliferation (Ki-67<sup>+</sup> cells) and an increased number of polysialylated neuronal cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM)<sup>+</sup> neural progenitors near the lateral ventricular wall in humans (Macas et al., 2006; Martí-Fàbregas et al., 2010). Studies have also identified Ki67<sup>+</sup>/DCX<sup>+</sup> cells in the ischemic penumbra, clustering near blood vessels in humans (Jin et al., 2006).

#### 1.5 Neurovascular remodeling after stroke

In a number of rodent models, ischemic injury induces the proliferation of neural progenitor cells in the SVZ and the long-distance migration of neuroblasts towards sites of ischemic injury, where neuroblasts associate with the angiogenic vasculature within the first days after stroke in the neurovascular niche (Ohab et al., 2006). These neuroblasts derive from GFAP-expressing progenitor cells. Inhibition of post-stroke angiogenesis using endostatin by Ohab et al. resulted in a 10-fold reduction in the number of neuroblasts in peri-infarct cortex, 7 days after stroke. Stromal cell-derived factor 1 beta (SDF1beta) / C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) and angiopoietin 1 (Ang1) / tyrosine-protein kinase receptor 2 (Tie2) were two receptorligand pairs identified in that study to be involved in signaling in this neurovascular niche. SDF1beta and Ang1 expression in the vasculature was increased after stroke, while CXCR4 and Tie2 expression was elevated in neuroblasts, migrating towards ischemic injury. The authors further showed that delivery of both SDF1beta as well as Ang1 to the site of ischemic injury resulted in increased numbers of DCX<sup>+</sup> neuroblasts in peri-infarct tissue, while inhibition of CXCR4 resulted in dispersal of these cells into a greater volume. Inhibition of Tie2 reduced the volume of distribution of these cells. Both Ang1 as well as SDF1 delivery improved behavioral recovery after stroke. While

stimulation of endogenous neurogenesis enhances recovery, transgenic ablation of DCX<sup>+</sup> cells worsens functional outcome after stroke (Jin et al., 2010). Most neuroblasts or immature neurons that are generated after stroke do no survive long-term. Forced overuse of the paretic limb is used in rodents CIMT. In a recent study it was demonstrated that forelimb overuse promotes neural progenitor proliferation as well as migration towards and differentiation in peri-infarct cortex, enhancing long-term survival of SVZ-derived neurons. Most strikingly, synaptic integration of these SVZ-derived neurons was necessary for functional recovery (Liang et al., 2019).

#### 1.6 Preliminary studies

Based on the above findings, the goal of the current study is to more systematically characterize the neurovascular niche in peri-infarct cortex. A better understanding of the signaling systems underlying neuroblast-vessel communication may lead to the identification of novel receptor-ligand pairs involved in the promotion of angiogenesis (without BBB disruption), neurogenesis (including differentiation, synaptic integration and long-term survival) and ultimately functional recovery after stroke.

To this end, preliminary studies in the Carmichael laboratory identified the peri-infarct neurovascular interactome. In brief, a focal cortical stroke was generated in young adult mice by permanent distal middle cerebral artery and transient bilateral common carotid artery occlusion for 15 minutes. Mice were euthanized after 7 days, brains collected, sectioned and stained for platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM), a marker for endothelial cells. Based on morphology, angiogenic blood vessels were identified in peri-infarct cortex and isolated using laser capture microdissection (LCM), blood vessels from contralateral cortex were selected for comparison. Total RNA was isolated from these cell populations and used for generated in a doublecortin promotor – red fluorescent protein (DCX-RFP) mouse line and stroke-responsive neuroblasts isolated from peri-infarct cortex and compared to neuroblasts that migrate to olfactory bulb using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) purification. In a collaborative effort with the Informatics Center for

Neurogenetics and Neurogenomics (ICNN) at UCLA using advanced bioinformatic approaches, the total set of receptor-ligand pairs or receptor-extracellular matrix (ECM) signaling systems between angiogenic vessels and regenerating immature neurons after stroke (the regeneration interactome) was identified (Figure 1-1). With this data set available, we started to explore the role of neuroblast-derived signals in the neurovascular niche.



#### Figure 1-1 Genome-wide expression profiling studies

Angiogenic blood vessels were identified based on CD31 immunohistochemical labeling and morphology, isolated from peri-infarct cortex as well as contralateral cortex using LCM and processed for microarray studies. Neuroblasts were identified based on RFP signal and FACS purified from peri-infarct cortex as well as olfactory bulb and processed for microarray studies. Contrast analysis was performed to identify the individual transcriptome and protein-protein interaction analyses performed to identify the post-stroke neurovascular interactome. Figure adapted from Brumm (2012).

Based on gene expression change, novelty in brain regeneration and literature support for a role in angiogenesis, we selected four gene systems encoding different protein classes: Chemokine (C-C-motif) ligand 9 (CCL9), pleiotrophin (PTN), wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 7A (Wnt7a) and Growth arrest –

specific 6 (Gas6) for further mechanistic gain- and loss-of-function studies. We found CCL9, PTN and GAS6 to be upregulated in stroke-responsive neuroblasts, while WNT7A was downregulated (Table 1-1).

Symbol	Log Ratio	Location	Type(s)	FC	<b>↑/</b> ↓
Ccl9	1,604	Extracellular Space	cytokine	3,04	1
GAS6	1,596	Extracellular Space	growth factor	3,02	1
PTN	-1,599	Extracellular Space	growth factor	0,33	Ļ
WNT7A	-0,758	Extracellular Space	cytokine	0,59	Ļ

#### Table 1-1 Candidate gene systems

Genome-wide expression profiling studies identified upregulation of CCL9 and GAS6 as well as downregulation of PTN and WNT7A in post-stroke neuroblasts at 7d after stroke compared to neuroblasts migrating to olfactory bulb.

#### 1.7 Chemokine (C-C-motif) ligand 9

CCL9 is a member of the macrophage inflammatory protein-1 family (MIP-1) and also referred to as MIP1-gamma (Zhao et al., 2003). Initial studies in 1995 found CCL9 to be expressed in macrophages and myeloid progenitor cells and described its chemotactic properties (Hara et al., 1995; Youn et al., 1995). Later studies described CCL9 expression in osteoclasts with a role in their motility and polarization (Lean et al., 2002). Several studies have suggested a role for CCL9 in disease processes. CCL9 was found to be upregulated in chronic kidney disease (CKD) and found to counteract kidney inflammation and fibrosis (Hemmers et al., 2022). Several studies have described a role for CCL9 in cancer biology. Colon cancer cells were found to secrete CCL9 to recruit immature myeloid cells (iMC) through CCR1, with CCR1 antagonism impairing iMC recruitment and resulting in suppressed tumor outgrowth and dissemination (Kitamura et al., 2010). In a recent study performed using a mouse model of lung tumors, CCL9 was found to drive macrophage recruitment and macrophage-derived VEGF found to drive angiogenesis (Kortlever et al., 2017). Several studies have described a role for CCL9 in the nervous system. In a streptozotocin (STZ)-induced mouse model of diabetic neuropathic pain, expression of CCL9 and its receptor CCR1 was increased in the lumbar spinal cord, predominantly in neurons. In the same study, intrathecal injection of CCL9 neutralizing antibodies resulted in delayed neuropathic pain symptoms at day 7

following STZ administration, as did injection of a CCR1 antagonist (Rojewska et al., 2018). Elevated levels of CCL9 mRNA as well as protein have been found in a model of traumatic brain injury (Ciechanowska et al., 2020). CCL23, a human CCL9 ortholog, was found to be elevated in blood samples of stroke patients within 24 hours after ischemia, however, this finding was not specific to ischemia but also found in other forms of human brain injury, i.e. in the setting of traumatic brain injury or tumors (Simats et al., 2018). Higher baseline CCL23 levels at the time of presentation were predictive for poorer outcomes after stroke in the study population. The authors of the study also found CCL9 expression acutely elevated in rodent models of cerebral ischemia and traumatic brain injury. As expression of CCL23 was maintained into the subacute phase of ischemia, the authors hypothesized that CCL23 may also have a role in neuronal repair at later stages of ischemia. In support of this hypothesis, prior studies have shown that CCL23 promotes endothelial cell proliferation and migration (Han et al., 2009).

#### 1.8 Pleiotrophin

Initial studies around 1989 described PTN as an 18-kD heparin-binding protein that is similar in structure to fibroblast growth factors, highly expressed in perinatal rat brain and promotes neurite outgrowth in vitro (Rauvala, 1989). It was found to be highly conserved among mammals and named pleotrophin due to its diverse biological activities (Li et al., 1990). In fact, at the time of writing, a PubMed search for 'pleotrophin' yields well beyond 800 results. PTN has diverse roles in mammalians, including bone development, lipid metabolism, inflammation and cancer biology. An extensive discussion of all its biological activities is well beyond the scope of this thesis. The following text will focus on the role of PTN in the central nervous system and discuss findings related to angiogenesis. A number of studies have described behavioral abnormalities in PTN knockout mice. In a study published in 2014, the authors find that PTN knockout mice show evidence of cognitive inflexibility and heightened anxiety especially in novel contexts (Krellman et al., 2014). The authors describe layer-specific changes in neuronal area and density in the lateral entorhinal cortex without gross differences in cortical volume compared to wild-type animals.

Further, the authors do not find any gross pathology of the vasculature in the entorhinal cortex. PTN knockout mice also exhibit prolonged amphetamine-seeking behavior and seem to be more susceptible to amphetamine-induced neurotoxicity (Gramage et al., 2010). In a similar study, ethanol was found to upregulate PTN in the mouse prefrontal cortex and the authors reported that PTN knockout mice were more susceptible to the rewarding effects of ethanol, an effect they were able to abolish by overexpressing PTN in mouse cortex and hippocampus (Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2014). PTN was found to be highly expressed in both mouse as well as human SVZ (Qin et al., 2017). In the same study, NPC – derived PTN was found to promote invasion of gliomas to the SVZ by activation of Rho/Rho-associated kinase signaling. A recent study (Tang et al., 2019) found NSC-derived PTN to be involved in hippocampal neuronal maturation. Loss of PTN was associated with impaired dendritic development and arborization without impacting the birth and survival of newborn neurons directly. This was mediated through anaplastic lymphoma kinase receptor activation. PTN expression and associated signaling was found to decrease with age, impairing hippocampal maturation of newborn neurons. A study in mice (Nikolakopoulou et al., 2019) has identified pericytes as a major source of PTN in the central nervous system and found that loss of pericytes is associated with neuronal loss that can be rescued by intracerebroventricular infusions of PTN. The authors of the study further showed that targeted silencing of PTN in pericytes renders neurons susceptible to ischemic and excitotoxic injury in vitro and in vivo. Initial studies (Yeh et al., 1998) found PTN mRNA and protein in cortical neurons of the adult rat brain but little or no expression in glia or endothelial cells. However, after ischemic injury, the authors found loss of PTN in injured neurons (especially in the infarct core) while expression was elevated in GFAP<sup>+</sup> astrocytes, OX42 and Griffonia simplicifolia agglutinin-IB4-positive macrophages as well as developing microvasculature. Expression remained elevated for at least 14 days in this study. In terms of angiogenesis, PTN was found to promote endothelial cell proliferation, migration and formation of tube-like structures (Souttou et al., 2001). It was also found to induce angiogenesis in the ex vivo aortic ring assay, the in vivo chicken embryo chorioallantoic membrane angiogenesis assay as well as the rabbit corneal assay (Besse et al., 2013; Mikelis et al., 2011; Choudhuri et al., 1997). PTN has been

13

implicated in tumor angiogenesis (Papadimitriou et al., 2016). In contrast to these findings, however, PTN was also found to negatively regulate VEGF165- and FGF2- mediated angiogenesis (Dos Santos et al., 2014; Héroult et al., 2004).

#### 1.9 Wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 7A

Work by Roel Nusse and Harold Varmus (1982) lead to the identification of a protooncogene named integration site 1 (int1), a target for the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV). Later studies identified its homolog in Drosophila, wingless, to be a crucial morphogen in development (Nusse and Varmus, 2012). These names were later combined and the gene renamed to Wnt1, which stands for Wingless-related integration site 1. Wnt genes are highly conserved and have diverse roles in development and disease. The Wnt family consist of 19 members, secreted glycoproteins that can signal through different pathways. In Wnt signaling, the canonical or beta-catenin dependent pathway is differentiated from non-canonical or beta-catenin independent pathways like the Ca2+ pathway or the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway. As reviewed by Liebner and Plate (2010), the canonical pathway is activated through binding of Wnt ligands to the cysteine-rich domain (CSD) of Frizzled (Fz) receptors and low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 and 6 (LRP5/6), which results in the recruitment of Dishevelled (DvI) and Axin to Fz, ultimately resulting in inhibition of the "destruction complex", making it possible for beta-catenin to accumulate in the cytoplasm, translocate to the cell nucleus and modulate gene expression through binding to T cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor.

A study conducted by a group around Ben Barres at Stanford University found canonical Wnt signaling to be necessary for CNS-specific angiogenesis in development (Daneman et al., 2009). In particular, the group identified Wnt7a and Wnt7b expression in ventral regions of the CNS to be essential for normal angiogenesis. Wnt7a was found to be involved in BBB formation by regulating expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1). A recent study suggests that Wnt7a mediated canonical signaling may maintain BBB integrity after ischemia (Song et al., 2021). Wnt7a was also found to be involved in axonal remodeling and synaptogenesis. Studies involving Wnt7a-knockout mice (Qu et al., 2013) have also identified a role in neural progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation towards a neuronal fate in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus.

#### 1.10 Growth-arrest – specific 6

As reviewed by Di Stasi et al. (2020) Gas6 is a vitamin K-dependent glycoprotein that was identified as a ligand to Tyro3, Mer and Axl (TAM) receptors in 1995 with the greatest binding affinity towards Axl. It is structurally related to protein S, another TAM receptor ligand. Gas6 is expressed in a wide range of tissues including endothelial cells and the CNS. Axl is a receptor tyrosine kinase, binding of Gas6 leads to receptor homodimerization, autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues and activation of different downstream signaling pathways like phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/AKT, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and mitogen-activated protein kinase. Gas6/Axl signaling dysregulation has been described in several cancers and is associated with cancer metastases and angiogenesis.

Both Gas6 as well as protein S have been implicated in SVZ stem cell regulation (Gely-Pernot et al., 2012). Both Gas6 and protein S as well as the TAM receptor family are expressed in SVZ. Gas6 -/- knockout mice show reduced SVZ and OB cell proliferation while protein S neutralization increases SVZ proliferation. Other studies have found a role for protein S in maintaining stem-cell quiescence and promoting differentiation towards a neuronal fate (Zelentsova et al., 2017).

Studies investigating the role of the Gas6-AxI axis in angiogenesis have shown varying results. One study (Gallicchio et al., 2005) found that Gas 6 did not promote EC chemotaxis but inhibited VEGF-A-dependent chemotaxis as well as tube formation. Gas 6 did not promote vascularization in the chorio-allantoic membrane (CAM) assay but inhibited VEGF-A dependent vascularization. The authors find that Gas6 inhibits VEGF-A mediated autophosphorylation of VEGFR-2, likely mediated by SH2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2 (SHP-2). In contrast, another study (Holland et al., 2005) found that AxI knockdown impairs human umbilical vein

endothelial cell (HUVEC) proliferation, migration as well as tube formation in vitro. The authors also found Axl necessary for the formation of functional blood vessels in a mouse model of angiogenesis. The authors hypothesize that Axl silencing may inhibit Gas6-mediated VEGFR2 inhibition. A later study (Ruan and Kazlauskas, 2012) found Axl to be necessary for angiogenesis and VEGF-A dependent activation of VEGFR2 to promote ligand-independent autophosphorylation of Axl.

In a murine model of multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), intracerebroventricular delivery of GAS6 reduced axonal damage, demyelination, Iba1<sup>+</sup> microglia and improved the clinical course (Gruber et al., 2014). In contrast, loss of Gas6 resulted in increased inflammation, axonal damage, demyelination and impaired recovery.

Gas6 expression was found to be decreased 24 hrs after MCAo in rats (Wu et al., 2018). In the same study, the authors further describe reduced infarct volume as well as higher neurological function scores after treatment with rGas6, dependent upon inhibition of proinflammatory signaling.

In a mouse model of intracranial hemorrhage, intranasal delivery of Gas6 was found to reduce brain edema and improve behavioral outcomes, dependent upon increased expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 and 3 (Tong et al., 2017). A recent study (Guo et al., 2021) found that in patients with acute ischemic stroke undergoing intravenous thrombolysis, lower levels of serum AxI are associated with higher rates of hemorrhagic transformation. In a set of rodent studies, the authors also found that treatment with rGAS6 resulted in less BBB disruption and hemorrhagic transformation after MCAo with reduced infarction volumes and less pronounced neurological deficits.

#### 1.11 Study design and specific aims

We hypothesized that candidate genes dysregulated in stroke-responsive neuroblasts are involved in post-stroke angiogenesis and neurogenesis. To test this hypothesis, we performed mechanistic gain- and loss-of-function studies in two widely established models of ischemic stroke: middle cerebral artery occlusion and photothrombosis (PT). In our gain-of-function studies, we employed either lentivirus mediated gene overexpression or sustained protein release from a hyaluronan based hydrogel sitting in the infarct cavity. Loss-of-function was achieved through lentivirus delivered microRNA mediated gene knockdown. We used different thymidine analogues to track cell proliferation after stroke. We looked at both short (14d) as well as long-term (42d) outcomes to assess both immediate as well as prolonged effects. More specifically, we hypothesized that:

- Candidate gene overexpression or delivery will enhance post-stroke endothelial cell proliferation and increase overall vessel density in peri-infarct tissue short- and long-term.
- Knockdown of candidate genes will impair post-stroke endothelial cell proliferation and decrease overall vessel density in peri-infarct tissue shortand long-term.
- Candidate gene overexpression will enhance post-stroke neurogenesis, based on NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells in peri-infarct tissue after long-term survival.
- Knockdown of candidate genes will impair post-stroke neurogenesis, as assessed by NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells in peri-infarct tissue after long-term survival.

### 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Mice

All studies were performed on young adult (2-4 months old) C57BL/6 mice obtained from Jackson Laboratories, housed under 12:12 hours light:dark cycles, at 4 mice per cage with food and water provided ad libitum. Experiments were performed in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Animal Protection Guidelines and approved by the University of California, Los Angeles Animal Research Committee.

#### 2.2 Lentiviral injections and photothrombotic model of ischemic stroke

For the gain-of-function studies, EF1alpha-driven lentiviral constructs expressing mouse CCL9, WNT7A, GAS6 or PTN were used. For the loss-of-function studies, EF1alpha-driven constructs expressing microRNA sequences designed using the Block-iT system (Thermo Fisher) targeting mouse CCL9, WNT7A, GAS6 or PTN were used. Two viral injections of 1.5  $\mu$ l were performed (AP 0, ML 0.5 and 2.5, DV 0.7mm) using a 33G syringe (Hamilton Company) at 200 nl/min using a small volume syringe pump (Chemyx) attached to a stereotaxic frame (Figure 2-1).

14 days after viral injections, a focal cortical stroke was generated in young adult (2-4 months old) C57BL/6 mice using photothrombosis as described previously (Clarkson et al., 2010). In brief, animals were anesthetized using 5% isoflurane in 100% O<sub>2</sub> and maintained at 1.5 - 2% isoflurane throughout the procedure. Body temperature was maintained at  $37.0^{\circ}$ C ±  $0.5^{\circ}$ C using a heating pad. Mice were placed in a stereotactic apparatus, the skull exposed through a midline incision and the surface cleared of connective tissue and dried. Rose Bengal at a concentration of 10mg/ml in saline was administered intraperitoneally. After 5 minutes, a cold light source (KL1500 LCD, Carl Zeiss) attached to a 40x objective was positioned above the forelimb motor cortex (coordinates AP 0.0mm, ML 1.5) and the brain illuminated through the intact skull for 18 min. After illumination, the wound was closed using tissue adhesive and the

animal returned to its cage for recovery (Figure 2-2). This approach generates a welldefined ischemic lesion in the forelimb region of the motor cortex (Figure 2-3). Sample size was 4-7 per group.



**Figure 2-1 Lentiviral transduction of neurons in peri-infarct cortex** Representative confocal micrograph showing neuronal expression of reporter gene (eGFP) at the time of analysis. Scale bar: 30 µm.



#### Figure 2-2 Experimental time course (virus)

Brief overview of time course in lentiviral studies. Lentiviral injection is performed on day 0, photothrombotic stroke generated on day 14. Starting 24 hrs prior to stroke

and continuing for 7 days, mice receive EdU. Mice are sacrificed for analysis on day 28 (short-term) or 56 (long-term) for tissue analysis.



#### Figure 2-3 Model of photothrombotic stroke

Low magnification micrograph showing typical infarct size (red) in our model of ischemic stroke targeting forelimb motor cortex.

#### 2.3 Middle cerebral artery occlusion model and hydrogel implantation

For hydrogel studies, young adult (2-4 months old) C57BL/6 mice underwent permanent distal middle cerebral artery occlusion as well as permanent occlusion of the ipsilateral common carotid artery. The procedure was performed under isoflurane anesthesia and body temperature maintained at  $37.0^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$  using a heating pad. In brief, an incision was made between the left eye and ear and the temporal muscle bisected. The middle cerebral artery was visualized through the intact skull and a craniotomy performed above the site of occlusion using a small surgical drill. The middle cerebral artery was thermocoagulated at the distal trunk proximal to the site of bifurcation into the frontal and posterior MCA branches. The temporal muscle was put back in place and the skin closed. The animal is then repositioned to expose the ventral surface of the neck, a midline incision made and the left common carotid artery visualized and separated from the vagus nerve. The CCA is thermocoagulated proximal to its bifurcation and wounds are closed. This results in an infarct in barrel field somatosensory cortex (Figure 2-4). At three days post-stroke, a hyaluronan/heparin sulfate proteoglycan biopolymer hydrogel impregnated with either PBS or CCL9 protein (at a concentration of 600 ul/ml) was injected at two locations directly into the infarct cavity: 1. AP 0.7, ML 3.00, DV 1.2mm 2. AP -0.46, ML 3.25 and DV 0.85 mm). A volume of 6 µl was injected per site at a rate of 500 nl / minute with a 2 min delay using a small volume syringe pump (Chemyx) attached to a stereotaxic frame (Figure 2-5).



#### Figure 2-4 MCAo model of ischemic stroke

Low-magnification picture showing brain section after 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) treatment, 24 hours after MCAo. Infarct is visible in white.



#### Figure 2-5 Experimental time course (hydrogel)

Brief overview of time course in hydrogel studies. MCAo was performed on day 0, hydrogel implanted on day 3 and mice sacrificed for tissue analysis on day 14. BrdU was injected bi-daily from days three to nine post-stroke.

#### 2.4 Administration of thymidine analogues

To track cell proliferation, mice were given 5-Ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EdU, Carbosynth, NE08701), a thymidine analogue, from day 13 to day 20 (i.e. starting 24 hours before stroke and continuing for seven consecutive days post-stroke) at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/ml in drinking water with recommended dose cherry-flavored TMS antibiotic. Water was changed every 48 hours. To develop EdU, a protocol modified from the Click-iT EdU Imaging Kit (Thermo Fisher) was used. Briefly, during immunohistochemistry, tissue was incubated in 100 mM tris-buffered saline (TBS) pH 7.6 with 4 mM CuSo4, 100 mM sodium ascorbate and a fluorophore-azide at a concentration of 2 $\mu$ M (i.e. Sulfo-Cyanine3 azide, Lumiprobe D1330) for 30 minutes at room temperature.

For hydrogel studies, mice received bi-daily intraperitoneal injections of the thymidine analogue BrdU from days three to nine after stroke. For histological visualization of BrdU, sections were pretreated with 2N HCl for 30min at 37°C and neutralized with sodium tetraborate buffer, pH 8.5 at room temperature before incubation in primary antibody (Tsai et al., 2006).

#### 2.5 Tissue processing

Mice were sacrificed either 14 or 42 days after stroke and transcardially perfused with periodate-lysine-paraformaldehyde fixative (containing 2% paraformaldehyde) as previously described (McLean and Nakane, 1974). Brain tissue was cryoprotected in 30% sucrose, flashfrozen and sectioned using a cryostat (Leica Biosystems, CM0530) at a thickness of 40 µm per section. For further analysis, serial sections through the infarct, 160 µm apart, were selected. For immunohistochemistry, sections were rinsed in 0.02M KPBS for 3x 5 minutes, blocked in 0.02M KPBS, 5% normal donkey serum (NDS) and 0.3% Triton-X for 30 to 60 min and incubated in 0.02M KPBS, 2% NDS, 0.1% Triton-X and primary antibodies overnight. The following day, sections were again rinsed in 0.02M KPBS 3x5 minutes, incubated in 0.02M KPBS, 2% NDS, 0.1% Triton-X and secondary antibodies for 60 minutes, rinsed in 0.02M KPBS 3x5 minutes, mounted on slides, air-dried, dehydrated in ascending ethanol washes and washed in xylenes (2x 1 minute) prior to application of DPX mounting medium and coverslipping. Following primary antibodies were used: rabbit anti-NeuN (Abcam), rat anti-CD31 (BD Biosciences). Imaging was performed using a confocal laser scanning microscope (Nikon) at 40x magnification, two fields of view medial to the infarct per section were used for analysis.

Tissue processing was performed in an analogous fashion for the hydrogel studies. As a fixative, 4% PFA was used. Endothelial cells were visualized by using primary antibodies against Glucose Transporter 1 (rabbit anti-GLUT1, Abcam).

#### 2.6 Imaging

Image analysis was performed using Imaris (Bitplane). Z-Stacks were converted from .nd2 to .ims prior to analysis. Image analysis was performed in an automated fashion using a Matlab script and the Imaris extension EasyXT. In brief, all images underwent baseline subtraction and gamma correction prior to analysis. To identify CD31<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> cells, a 3D surface object was generated using the CD31 channel as a source. In a second step, a mask was generated for the CD31 surface object, setting all voxels

outside the surface to 0. Another surface object was then created using the EdU channel as a source and filtered based on overlap with the previously generated CD31 mask so that at least 90% of the voxels overlapped. Identification of NeuN<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> cells was performed in a similar fashion. Vessel volume was estimated based on the properties of the generated surface objects.

For hydrogel studies, double-positive cells (BrdU<sup>+</sup>/GLUT1<sup>+</sup>) were counted manually with the investigator blinded to treatment conditions. 6 serial sections through the infarct were used per animal and five 60x z-stacks acquired per section, 2 medial and 2 lateral to the infarct as well as one image in subcortical white matter.



#### Figure 2-6 Vessel segmentation approach

Pictures showing z-stack images of CD31 and EdU with all cells prior to segmentation (left), during segmentation in Imaris (top right) and with only double-positive cells at 40x magnification (bottom right).

#### 2.7 Infarct volume analysis

To estimate the dimensions of the infarct, serial sections, 160  $\mu$ m apart, through the entire infarct were selected from the angiogenesis studies. 4x overview images were captured and the area of infarction measured using ImageJ. Total infarct volume was calculated by multiplying measured areas and intersection distances.

#### 2.8 Statistical Analysis

Sample sizes for experiments are based on similar previously published studies using a significance level of a = 0.05 with 80% power to detect differences. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was either ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test or unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. All data available to the author at the time of writing was included in this thesis.

## 3 Results

#### 3.1 Ischemic injury results in post-stroke neurovascular remodeling

Based on previously published results, we hypothesized that ischemic injury by itself would induce post-ischemic neurovascular remodeling processes like angiogenesis and neurogenesis (Ohab et al., 2006). Consistent with these findings, mice receiving lentiviral injections with a control sequence, receiving a photothrombotic stroke at day 14, showed significant increases in endothelial cell proliferation, inmigration of neuroblasts as well as close association of blood vessels and neuroblasts in the peri-infarct region (Figure 3-1).



#### Figure 3-1 Neurovascular remodeling after stroke

Bottom: Stroke resulted in the in-migration of large numbers of neuroblasts (red) to the site of ischemic injury. Top-right: In peri-infarct tissue, we found high numbers of angiogenic blood vessels (CD31 in red, EdU in green). Top-left: After stroke, in-migrating neuroblasts (red) closely associated with the local vasculature (green).

#### 3.2 CCL9 and WNT7A promote endothelial cell proliferation after stroke

We hypothesized that candidate genes dysregulated in stroke-response neuroblasts have a role in post-stroke neurovascular remodeling. More specifically, the aim of the current study was to assess whether general overexpression of candidate genes in peri-infarct cortex can promote angiogenesis. To this end, young adult C57BL/6 mice received lentiviral injections with a construct driving expression of candidate genes under the ubiquitous EF1a promoter, with either eGFP or TagBFP2 as a reporter gene. In a set of time course experiments we established robust reporter gene expression by day 14. Mice received a photothrombotic stroke in the forelimb motor cortex at day 14 and were followed for an additional 6 weeks. Mice received EdU, a thymidine analogue, in drinking water from day 13 to day 20 to label dividing cells. Mice were sacrificed 6 weeks post-stroke, tissue fixed, sectioned and stained for CD31 and EdU. A set of four 40x confocal micrographs were generated for analysis and the number of double-positive CD31<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> cells counted using Bitplane Imaris. We found that stroke by itself results in a significant increase in endothelial cell proliferation in peri-infarct tissue (data not shown). Among the candidate genes tested, WNT7a (161.5  $\pm$  17.60 versus 578.0  $\pm$  328.9 cells / mm<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.0244) and CCL9 (161.5  $\pm$  17.60 versus 1013  $\pm$  120.6 cells / mm<sup>2</sup>, p < 0.0001) overexpression resulted in a significant increase in post-stroke endothelial cell proliferation compared to controls (Figure 3-2, Figure 3-3) while overexpression of GAS6 (161.5  $\pm$  17.60 vs 418.6  $\pm$  289.4 cells / mm<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.2233) and PTN (161.5  $\pm$  17.60 vs 314.3  $\pm$  129.9 cells  $/ \text{mm}^2$ , p = 0.5816) did not.



Figure 3-2 Effect of candidate gene overexpression on EC proliferation Number of EdU<sup>+</sup> CD31<sup>+</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in peri-infarct cortex 8 weeks after lentiviral overexpression of candidate genes, 6 weeks post-stroke. Both WNT7A as well as CCL9 overexpression significantly increased the number of double-positive cells. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. \*\*\*\* = p <0.0001, \* = p < 0.05, n = 4-7 per group.



**Figure 3-3 CCL9 overexpression increases EC proliferation after stroke** CCL9 overexpression increased endothelial cell proliferation in peri-infarct cortex. 40x confocal micrographs showing EdU in green, CD31 in red. Representative images for each condition are shown with all nuclei visible (left) or only double-positive nuclei (right).

#### 3.3 Loss of CCL9 attenuates EC proliferation after stroke

At this point we had established that overexpression of CCL9 and WNT7A can promote endothelial cell proliferation, a key step in angiogenesis, in our model of ischemic stroke. However, this does not answer the question, whether these genes are necessary for the angiogenic response seen after ischemia. We hypothesized that loss of candidate genes that are upregulated after stroke in neuroblasts will impair endothelial cell proliferation and thereby at least partially impair the angiogenic response. To test this hypothesis, we used lentiviral constructs expressing microRNA sequences to achieve knockdown of candidate genes. We found robust lentiviral expression by day 14 and analogous to our gain-of-function studies, a stroke was generated at this time, EdU given in drinking water from day 13 to 20 and animals followed for 6 weeks before sacrifice, tissue processing, imaging and analysis. We found that knockdown of CCL9 resulted in a significant reduction of endothelial cell proliferation after stroke ( $678.8 \pm 268.0 \text{ vs } 166.0 \pm 50.57$ , p = 0.002) while knockdown of PTN did not ( $678.8 \pm 268.0 \text{ vs } 937.0 \pm 179.6$ , p = 0.1166), see Figure 3-4 and Figure 3-5 for comparison.



Figure 3-4 Loss of CCL9 reduces EC proliferation after stroke Number of EdU<sup>+</sup> CD31<sup>+</sup> cells / mm<sup>2</sup> in peri-infarct cortex 8 weeks after lentiviral microRNA mediated knockdown of candidate genes, 6 weeks post-stroke. CCL9 knockdown significantly decreased the number of double-positive cells. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. \*\* = p <0.01, n = 4-6 per group.



#### Figure 3-5 Loss of CCL9 impairs angiogenic response after stroke

CCL9 knockdown decreases endothelial cell proliferation in peri-infarct cortex. 40x confocal micrographs showing EdU in green, CD31 in red. Representative images for each condition are shown with all nuclei visible (left) or only double-positive nuclei (right) visible.

#### 3.4 CCL9 modulation alters peri-infarct vessel density

With initial results indicating that candidate genes can modulate early steps of angiogenesis like endothelial cell proliferation we next tested whether this translates to macroscopic changes, i.e. vessel density in peri-infarct tissue. Only overexpression of CCL9 resulted in a significant increase in peri-infarct vessel density (199539  $\pm$ 

 $67065 \text{ vs } 519826 \pm 85942 \ \mu\text{m}^3 \ / \ \text{section}, \ p = 0.01109) \ \text{while overexpression of} \ WNT7A \ (199539 \pm 67065 \ \text{vs } 436590 \ \pm 209668 \ \mu\text{m}^3 \ / \ \text{section}, \ p = 0.0695), \ \text{GAS6} \ (199539 \pm 67065 \ \text{vs } 386818 \pm 210244 \ \mu\text{m}^3 \ / \ \text{section}, \ p = 0.1835) \ \text{and} \ \text{PTN} \ (199539 \ \pm 67065 \ \text{vs } 208119 \ \pm \ 81858 \ \mu\text{m}^3 \ / \ \text{section} \ p = 0.9999) \ \text{did not} \ (\text{Figure 3-6}).$ 





Knockdown of CCL9 resulted in a significant decrease in peri-infarct vessel density (439373 ± 98151 vs 135195 ± 33994  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> / section, p = 0.0019) while PTN knockdown resulted in increased CD31<sup>+</sup> volume (439373 ± 98151 vs 661028 ± 191626  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> / section, p = 0.0228) (Figure 3-7).



Figure 3-7 Loss of candidate genes modules vessel density after stroke Volume of CD31 in  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> per section in peri-infarct cortex 8 weeks after lentiviral microRNA mediated knockdown of candidate genes, 6 weeks post-stroke. CCL9 knockdown significantly decreased CD31 volume, while PTN knockdown increased CD31 volume. Data are mean ± SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p <0.01, n = 4-6 per group.

#### 3.5 Loss of candidate genes impairs post-stroke neurogenesis

As discussed earlier, stroke induces a neurogenic response with a small fraction of DCX<sup>+</sup> cells differentiating into mature neurons expressing the neuronal marker NeuN. To investigate whether candidate genes have a role in this endogenous neurogenic response, we employed lentiviral mircoRNA mediated knockdown of candidate genes with expression driven by the ubiquitous promotor ef1alpha. We found that knockdown of CCL9, WNT7A as well as PTN impaired the neurogenic response, based on the NeuN<sup>+</sup>/EdU+ cell population at 6 weeks after stroke (15.29 ± 4.866 vs  $1.187 \pm 0.1266$  cells/mm<sup>2</sup>, p=0.0066 for CCL9, vs  $4.742 \pm 1.270$  cells/mm<sup>2</sup>, p=0.0233 for WNT7A and vs  $3.559 \pm 1.130$  cells/mm<sup>2</sup>, p= 0.0157 for PTN).



Figure 3-8 Loss of candidate genes impairs post-stroke neurogenesis Number of NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in peri-infarct cortex 8 weeks after lentiviral microRNA mediated knockdown of candidate genes, 6 weeks post-stroke. Knockdown of CCL9, WNT7A as well as PTN reduced post-stroke neurogenesis. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, n = 5-7 per group.

#### 3.6 WNT7A and CCL9 promote post-stroke neurogenesis

To test whether candidate genes can enhance the endogenous neurogenic response, we performed lentiviral overexpression of candidate genes in peri-infarct tissue and assessed the number of newborn neurons, i.e., NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells in peri-infarct cortex, 6 weeks after ischemia. We found WNT7A ( $1.672 \pm 1.074 \text{ vs} 5.137 \pm 2.191$  cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.008) as well as CCL9 ( $1.672 \pm 1.074 \text{ vs} 8.484 \pm 1.521$  cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, p < 0.0001) to significantly increase the number of newborn neurons while PTN did not ( $1.672 \pm 1.074 \text{ vs} 1.133 \pm 1.339$  cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.9153) (Figure 3-9, Figure 3-10).



**Figure 3-9 Overexpression of WNT7A and CCL9 promotes neurogenesis** Number of NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in peri-infarct cortex 8 weeks after lentiviral overexpression of candidate genes, 6 weeks post-stroke. Overexpression of WNT7A as well as CCL9 increased post-stroke neurogenesis. Data are mean ± SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, n = 4-6 per group.

### Control

CCL9



#### Figure 3-10 CCL9 overexpression promotes neurogenesis

CCL9 overexpression increases post-stroke neurogenesis. Image shows NeuN labeling mature neurons (in green) as well as EdU (in red) incorporated into dividing cells. Representative co-labeled newborn neurons highlighted (arrow).

#### 3.7 CCL9 does not alter volume of infarction long-term

As stable expression or knockdown of CCL9 could affect infarct size both through initial neuroprotective as well as later regenerative processes, we estimated infarct size at 6 weeks after stroke but did not find any significant differences (Figure 3-11).



**Figure 3-11 Effect of candidate genes on long-term infarct volume** Infarct size analysis. Region of infarction was identified at 4x magnification at 6 weeks post-stroke based on autofluorescence signal. No significant differences in infarct area were found between groups. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, n = 5-7 per group.

#### 3.8 Hydrogel delivery of CCL9 promotes angiogenesis

In a separate set of studies, we investigated whether implantation of a hyaluronan/heparin sulfate proteoglycan biopolymer hydrogel impregnated with CCL9 protein at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/ml three days after stroke into the infarct core results in increased endothelial cell proliferation based on GLUT1/BrdU co-labeling.

We found that 14 days after stroke, CCL9 delivery through the hydrogel resulted in a significant increase in double positive cells compared to PBS controls (13.00  $\pm$  4.967 vs 23.63  $\pm$  7.596 cells, p=0.0309).



#### Figure 3-12 CCL9 delivery increases EC proliferation after stroke

Number of GLUT1<sup>+</sup>BrdU<sup>+</sup> cells per animal in peri-infarct tissue 2 weeks after stroke with hydrogel delivery of CCL9 protein starting day three post-stroke. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical testing was unpaired two-tailed t test, n = 4-8 per group.



**Figure 3-13 Hydrogel delivery of CCL9 promotes EC proliferation after stroke** Hydrogel delivery of CCL9 protein starting day 3 after MCAo resulted in increased numbers of GLUT1<sup>+</sup> (green) BrdU<sup>+</sup> (red) cells at 14 days post-stroke.

### 4 Discussion

Stroke is one of the leading causes of death and disability in the world yet remains without an effective treatment that promotes long-term functional recovery (Cramer, 2018; Feigin et al., 2021). Previous studies have demonstrated that stroke itself induces a wide range of plasticity mechanisms both in animal models as well as humans (Carmichael, 2016). Ischemic stroke has been shown to induce neural progenitor proliferation and migration of these cells towards sites of injury (Ohab et al., 2006). In peri-infarct cortex, these in-migrating neuroblasts have been shown to associate with the angiogenic vasculature in the neurovascular niche. Inhibition of post-stroke angiogenesis impairs this neurogenic response, establishing a causal link between angiogenesis has been shown to improve functional recovery after stroke. The signaling systems involved in post-stroke neurovascular remodeling are just partially characterized.

To systemically investigate the signaling systems underlying angiogenic vessel – neuroblast communication, previous studies in the Carmichael laboratory, based on DNA microarray data, identified the neurovascular interactome. The aim of this study was to select a set of gene systems specifically dysregulated in stroke-response neuroblasts for further, mechanistic gain- and loss-of-function studies in two well-established models of ischemic stroke. Based on degree of dysregulation and novelty in post-ischemic brain repair, we selected WNT7A, PTN, GAS6 and CCL9 for further studies. We found these genes to be either downregulated (WNT7A, PTN) or upregulated (GAS6, CCL9) after ischemia in stroke-responsive neuroblasts.

To overexpress candidate genes, we used lentiviral constructs encoding candidate genes under the control of the ef1 $\alpha$  promotor. Lentiviral injections were performed into cortical areas adjacent (medial and lateral) to the targeted site of ischemic injury on the left hemisphere. We found robust reporter expression at 2 weeks after lentivirus injection. At this point, we generated a photothrombotic ischemic lesion localized to forelimb motor cortex. Tissue analysis was performed after a short (2 weeks) or long

(6 weeks) survival period. Consistent with previous reports (Ohab et al., 2006), we found DCX<sup>+</sup> neuroblasts migrating towards the site of ischemic injury at 2 weeks after stroke even in the control conditions. In peri-infarct cortex, we found high numbers of proliferating (i.e., EdU<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>) endothelial cells. Looking at long-term effects, we found that overexpression of both WNT7A and CCL9 resulted in a significant increase in proliferating endothelial cells, while overexpression of GAS6 and PTN did not. In a second step, we looked at whether candidate gene overexpression increased vessel density in peri-infarct cortex. Among the genes tested, only CCL9 significantly increased vessel density in peri-infarct cortex at 6 weeks post-stroke.

To investigate whether candidate genes are involved in the endogenous post-stroke angiogenic response, we performed lentivirus-delivered microRNA-mediated ubiquitous knockdown of candidate genes. The data available at the time of writing is presented in this thesis (CCL9 and PTN). CCL9 knockdown significantly reduced post-stroke endothelial cell proliferation and vessel density in peri-infarct cortex. Loss of PTN did not result in significant changes in endothelial cell proliferation but did significantly increase vessel density at 6 weeks post-stroke.

In a separate set of experiments, we investigated whether delivery of CCL9 protein starting on day three post-stroke would promote angiogenesis in a MCAo model of ischemic stroke. To this end, we injected a hyaluronan-based hydrogel impregnated with CCL9 into the infarct cavity for sustained protein release over several weeks. We used BrdU to track cell proliferation and measured the number of proliferating endothelial cells (GLUT1<sup>+</sup>BrdU<sup>+</sup>) at 14 days after stroke. We found CCL9 protein to significantly increase endothelial cell proliferation.

Taken together, this study provides first evidence that CCL9 has a role in the postischemic angiogenic response and both lentiviral overexpression as well as hydrogel delivery can promote angiogenesis as tested in two well established models of ischemic stroke. Our findings regarding CCL9 are consistent with previous findings by other groups that have identified a role for CCL9 in non-CNS angiogenesis (Han et al., 2009; Kortlever et al., 2017) and add to this body of knowledge by providing

41

evidence for a role in CNS angiogenesis in the setting of ischemic stroke. Wnt7a did increase endothelial cell proliferation but not vascular density at 6 weeks after stroke. However, studies in the Carmichael laboratory found Wnt7a to increase GLUT1 expression (data not shown), consistent with the idea that Wnt7a may primarily be involved in BBB maturation (Daneman et al., 2009; Song et al., 2021). Both PTN and GAS6 have been implicated in non-CNS angiogenesis with ambiguous results (Dos Santos et al., 2014; Gallicchio et al., 2005; Holland et al., 2005; Papadimitriou et al., 2016; Ruan and Kazlauskas, 2012). However, to our knowledge, there is no evidence for a role in CNS angiogenesis and in our study, we did not find these genes to have a clear role in post-stroke angiogenesis.

As discussed earlier, stroke itself induces the birth of new neurons, a process termed neurogenesis. To test whether candidate genes are involved in post-stroke neurogenesis, we analyzed the number of NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells (i.e., cells proliferating after the time of ischemic injury, expressing a marker for mature neurons) at 6 weeks post-stroke after lentiviral mircoRNA-mediated knockdown of candidate genes. We found that loss of CCL9, WNT7A and PTN significantly reduced post-stroke neurogenesis. In contrast, overexpression of only CCL9 and WNT7A increased the number of NeuN<sup>+</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup> cells at 6 weeks after stroke.

To our knowledge, our study is the first to find a role for CCL9 in post-stroke neurogenesis. Wnt7a has been implicated in CNS neurogenesis (Qu et al., 2013), however, we are not aware of any studies providing evidence for a role in post-stroke neurogenesis. PTN has been shown to have a role in neuronal maturation and post-ischemic neuroprotection (Nikolakopoulou et al., 2019). Our study adds to this body of knowledge by providing evidence for a role in post-stroke neurogenesis.

As lesion size itself can impact the neurovascular response, we looked at whether infarct area was altered with overexpression or knockdown of CCL9 at 6 weeks post-stroke. We did not find any significant differences.

Our study has several limitations that should be addressed in future investigations. Our lentiviral as well as hydrogel delivery approaches are not neuroblast-specific, leaving unanswered how specifically targeting expression of these gene systems in neuroblasts modulates the neurovascular response after stroke. It remains unclear, whether the effects seen in our study are due to direct effects of the candidate gene systems on endothelial cells and neural progenitor cells or whether these are mediated by other gene systems and cell types (like microglia in the case of CCL9). While we provide evidence for angiogenesis, it remains unclear, whether some of the candidate genes may cause BBB disruption which would adversely affect outcome after stroke. Are these blood vessels functional, i.e., is there blood flow? While we measured the number of mature newborn neurons, future studies should investigate, whether these neurons are functional and integrated into the local circuitry. The image analysis approach in this study using Bitplane Imaris was conducted in an automated fashion with fixed settings using a large number of images. Variations in image quality may especially interfere with the segmentation of small structures like nuclear antigens, potentially resulting in false positives or negatives. While part of the angiogenesis experiments were replicated in experiments using manual guantification, this has not yet been performed for the parts of the study exploring post-stroke neurogenesis. And ultimately, while we provided evidence for a role of some of these candidate genes in neurovascular remodeling, future studies should address whether this affects functional recovery.

Taken together, in a set of mechanistic gain- and loss-of-function studies, we were able to identify novel regulators of post-stroke neurovascular remodeling. CCL9 generated the most robust and reproducible phenotype. Loss of CCL9 impaired poststroke angiogenesis and neurogenesis. Overexpression of CCL9 enhanced both the angiogenic and neurogenic response. Finally, using a local drug delivery approach, we were able to enhance the pro-angiogenic response using CCL9 protein and reproduce our findings in a second model of ischemic stroke.

### 5 Abstract

Stroke is one of the leading causes of death and disability yet remains without an effective treatment. Stroke itself induces a wide range of repair mechanisms that allow for limited recovery, including angiogenesis and neurogenesis. Previous studies have demonstrated that neuroblasts migrate to sites of ischemic injury and preferentially associate with the angiogenic vasculature. The signaling systems underlying neuroblast-vessel communication are incompletely understood. A better understanding of these endogenous repair mechanisms may lead to novel therapeutic approaches. To this end, previous studies in the Carmichael laboratory, using genome-wide expression profiling studies, identified the post-stroke neurovascular interactome. In this study, we selected four genes dysregulated in stroke-responsive neuroblasts for mechanistic gain-and loss-of-function studies: CCL9, WNT7A, GAS6 and PTN. We hypothesized that candidate gene overexpression will enhance the angiogenic and neurogenic response, while gene knockdown will impair post-stroke neurogenesis and angiogenesis. To test this hypothesis, we employed lentiviral gene overexpression or miRNA mediated gene knockdown in a photothrombotic model of ischemic stroke and quantified the number of proliferating endothelial cells (ECs), peri-infarct vessel density and the number of newborn neurons. We found CCL9 and WNT7A overexpression to significantly increase EC proliferation after stroke, while knockdown of CCL9 reduced the number of proliferating ECs. Overexpression of CCL9 increased peri-infarct vessel density, while loss of CCL9 lead to a significant reduction in vessel density. Loss of PTN increased vessel density without showing any effects on EC proliferation. Both WNT7A as well as CCL9 overexpression increased post-stroke neurogenesis (NeuN<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> cells) while loss of CCL9, WNT7A and PTN impaired the neurogenic response. In a second study, we delivered CCL9 protein through a hydrogel sitting in the infarct cavity in a MCAo model of ischemic stroke and also found EC proliferation to be enhanced. Taken together, we identified several novel regulators of post-stroke neurovascular remodeling. We found CCL9 to produce the most robust effects on neurovascular remodeling, which we were able to reproduce in two different models of ischemic stroke with two different delivery approaches.

## 6 Zusammenfassung

Beim Schlaganfall handelt es sich um eine der führenden Ursachen für Morbidität und Mortalität, jedoch fehlt eine effektive Behandlung. Die Ischämie selbst induziert eine Reihe an Reparaturmechanismen, welche eine begrenzte Regeneration erlauben und u.a. die Angiogenese und Neurogenese umfassen. Studien haben gezeigt, dass neuronale Vorläuferzellen (Neuroblasten) zu ischämischen Regionen migrieren und sich hier bevorzugt in die Nähe neu gebildeter Gefäße begeben. Die Signalsysteme, die für die Gefäß-Neuroblasten-Kommunikation zuständig sind, sind nur unzureichend verstanden. Ein besseres Verständnis dieser endogenen Reparaturmechanismen könnte zu neuen Therapieansätzen führen. Mit diesem Ziel wurde im Carmichael Labor, mittels genom-weiter Expressionsanalysen sowie bioinformatischer Interaktionsuntersuchungen das post-ischämische neurovaskuläre Interaktom identifiziert. In dieser Studie wählten wir vier Gene, welche in ischämieresponsiven Neuroblasten dysreguliert waren, für weitere Experimente aus: CCL9, WNT7A, GAS6 und PTN. Unsere Hypothese war, dass eine Überexpression dieser Gene die postischämische angiogenetische und neurogenetische Antwort verstärken würde, während ein Knockdown diese Antwort abschwächen würde. Um diese Hypothese zu testen verwendeten wir Lentiviren zur Überexpression oder zum microRNA vermittelten Gen-Knockdown in einem photothrombotischen Modell des ischämischen Schlaganfalls. Wir quantifizierten die Endothelzellenproliferation, die Gefäßdichte im Periinfarkt Gewebe und die Anzahl neugebildeter Neurone. In unseren Untersuchungen zeigte sich durch die Überexpression von CCL9 und WNT7A ein signifikanter Anstieg der Endothelzellenproliferation nach Schlaganfall, während ein Knockdown von CCL9 zu einer signifikanten Reduktion führte. Ein PTN Knockdown führte zu einem Anstieg der Gefäßdichte, ohne dass PTN einen signifikanten Effekt auf die Endothelzellenproliferation zeigte. Eine Überexpression von WNT7A als auch CCL9 führte zu einer post-ischämischen Zunahme der Neurogenese (NeuN<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup>-Zellen), während ein Knockdown von CCL9, WNT7A und PTN die post-ischämische Neurogenese signifikant reduzierte. In einem weiteren Experiment setzten wir ein Hydrogel ein, um das Peri-Infarktgewebe über mehrere Tage mit CCL9 Protein zu behandeln. Dieses Hydrogel wurde direkt in den

Infarktkern im MCAo-Model des Schlaganfalls implantiert. Auch hier zeigte sich eine Zunahme der Endothelzellproliferation. Zusammenfassend gelang es uns, mehrere neue Regulatoren der post-ischämischen neurovaskulären Regeneration zu identifizieren. CCL9 zeigte den ausgeprägtesten Effekt auf die neurovaskuläre Regeneration, wobei sich die Effekte in zwei unterschiedlichen Modellen des ischämischen Schlaganfalls mit zwei unterschiedlichen Interventionsansätzen reproduzieren ließen.

## 7 Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BBB	Blood-brain-barrier
BrdU	5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
CAM	Chorio-allantoic membrane
CCL9	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 9
CCR5	C-C chemokine receptor type 5,
CIMT	Constraint-induced motor therapy
CSD	Cysteine-rich-domain
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DCX	Doublecortin
DCX-RFP	Doublecortin - red fluorescent protein
Dvl	Dishevelled
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EC	Endothelial cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EdU	5-Ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell Sorting
GAS6	Growth-arrest-specific gene-6
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell
IdU	lododeoxyuridine
iMC	Immature myeloid cells
int1	Integration site 1
LCM	Laser capture microdissection
LTP	Long-term potentiation
MAP2	Microtubule-associated protein 2

MCAo	Middle cerebral artery occlusion
NeuN	Neuronal nuclear protein
NPC	Neural progenitor cell
NSC	Neural stem cell
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCP	Planar cell polarity
PECAM	Platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1
PSA-NCAM	Polysialylated neuronal cell adhesion molecule
PT	Photothrombosis
PTN	Pleiotrophin
RMS	Rostral migratory stream
SHP-2	SH2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2
STZ	Streptozotocin
SVZ	Subventricular zone
ТАМ	Tyro3, Mer, Axl
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
ТТС	2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WNT7A	Wingless-Type MMTV Integration Site Family, Member 7A

### 8 Bibliography

Bergmann, O., Liebl, J., Bernard, S., Alkass, K., Yeung, M.S.Y., Steier, P., et al., 2012. The Age of Olfactory Bulb Neurons in Humans. Neuron 74, 634–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.030

Besse, S., Comte, R., Fréchault, S., Courty, J., Joël, de L., Delbé, J., 2013. Pleiotrophin promotes capillary-like sprouting from senescent aortic rings. Cytokine 62, 44–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2013.02.002

- Brumm, A.J., 2012. Angiocrine signaling in post-stroke neurogenesis [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of California, Los Angeles.
- Carmeliet, P., Storkebaum, E., 2002. Vascular and neuronal effects of VEGF in the nervous system: implications for neurological disorders. Semin Cell Dev Biol 13, 39–53. https://doi.org/10.1006/scdb.2001.0290
- Carmichael, S.T., 2016. Emergent properties of neural repair: elemental biology to therapeutic concepts. Ann Neurol 79, 895–906. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24653
- Choudhuri, R., Zhang, H.T., Donnini, S., Ziche, M., Bicknell, R., 1997. An angiogenic role for the neurokines midkine and pleiotrophin in tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 57, 1814–1819.
- Ciechanowska, A., Popiolek-Barczyk, K., Pawlik, K., Ciapała, K., Oggioni, M., Mercurio, D., et al., 2020. Changes in macrophage inflammatory protein-1 (MIP-1) family members expression induced by traumatic brain injury in mice. Immunobiology 225, 151911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2020.151911
- Clarkson, A.N., Huang, B.S., Macisaac, S.E., Mody, I., Carmichael, S.T., 2010. Reducing excessive GABA-mediated tonic inhibition promotes functional recovery after stroke. Nature 468, 305–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09511
- Clarkson, A.N., Overman, J.J., Zhong, S., Mueller, R., Lynch, G., Carmichael, S.T., 2011. AMPA Receptor-Induced Local Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Signaling Mediates Motor Recovery after Stroke. J Neurosci 31, 3766–3775. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5780-10.2011
- Cramer, S.C., 2018. Treatments to Promote Neural Repair after Stroke. J Stroke 20, 57–70. https://doi.org/10.5853/jos.2017.02796
- Crichton, S.L., Bray, B.D., McKevitt, C., Rudd, A.G., Wolfe, C.D.A., 2016. Patient outcomes up to 15 years after stroke: survival, disability, quality of life, cognition and mental health. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 87, 1091–1098. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2016-313361
- Daneman, R., Agalliu, D., Zhou, L., Kuhnert, F., Kuo, C.J., Barres, B.A., 2009. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is required for CNS, but not non-CNS, angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106, 641–646. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805165106
- Di Stasi, R., De Rosa, L., D'Andrea, L.D., 2020. Therapeutic aspects of the Axl/Gas6 molecular system. Drug Discovery Today 25, 2130–2148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2020.09.022
- Dos Santos, C., Blanc, C., Elahouel, R., Prescott, M., Carpentier, G., Ori, A., et al., 2014. Proliferation and migration activities of fibroblast growth factor-2 in

endothelial cells are modulated by its direct interaction with heparin affin regulatory peptide. Biochimie 107, 350–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2014.10.002

- Eelen, G., Treps, L., Li, X., Carmeliet, P., 2020. Basic and Therapeutic Aspects of Angiogenesis Updated. Circ Res 127, 310–329. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316851
- Eriksson, P.S., Perfilieva, E., Björk-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A.-M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D.A., et al., 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4, 1313–1317. https://doi.org/10.1038/3305
- Ernst, A., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Perl, S., Tisdale, J., et al., 2014. Neurogenesis in the Striatum of the Adult Human Brain. Cell 156, 1072–1083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.044
- Feigin, V.L., Stark, B.A., Johnson, C.O., Roth, G.A., Bisignano, C., Abady, G.G., et al., 2021. Global, regional, and national burden of stroke and its risk factors, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet Neurology 20, 795–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00252-0
- Gallicchio, M., Mitola, S., Valdembri, D., Fantozzi, R., Varnum, B., Avanzi, G.C., et al., 2005. Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2-mediated endothelial cell activation by Axl tyrosine kinase receptor. Blood 105, 1970– 1976. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-04-1469
- Gely-Pernot, A., Coronas, V., Harnois, T., Prestoz, L., Mandairon, N., Didier, A., et al., 2012. An endogenous vitamin K-dependent mechanism regulates cell proliferation in the brain subventricular stem cell niche. Stem Cells 30, 719– 731. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1045
- Gramage, E., Putelli, A., Polanco, M.J., González-Martín, C., Ezquerra, L., Alguacil, L.F., et al., 2010. The neurotrophic factor pleiotrophin modulates amphetamine-seeking behaviour and amphetamine-induced neurotoxic effects: evidence from pleiotrophin knockout mice. Addiction Biology 15, 403– 412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2009.00202.x
- Gruber, R.C., Ray, A.K., Johndrow, C.T., Guzik, H., Burek, D., de Frutos, P.G., et al., 2014. Targeted GAS6 delivery to the CNS protects axons from damage during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci 34, 16320–16335. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2449-14.2014
- Guo, Z.-N., Liu, J., Chang, J., Zhang, P., Jin, H., Sun, X., et al., 2021. GAS6/Axl Signaling Modulates Blood-Brain Barrier Function Following Intravenous Thrombolysis in Acute Ischemic Stroke. Frontiers in Immunology 12.
- Han, K.Y., Kim, C.W., Lee, T.H., Son, Y., Kim, J., 2009. CCL23 up-regulates expression of KDR/Flk-1 and potentiates VEGF-induced proliferation and migration of human endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 382, 124–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.149
- Hara, T., Bacon, K.B., Cho, L.C., Yoshimura, A., Morikawa, Y., Copeland, N.G., et al., 1995. Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a novel member of the C-C chemokine family. The Journal of Immunology 155, 5352–5358.
- Hayashi, T., Noshita, N., Sugawara, T., Chan, P.H., 2003. Temporal profile of angiogenesis and expression of related genes in the brain after ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23, 166–180. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.WCB.0000041283.53351.CB

Hemmers, C., Schulte, C., Wollenhaupt, J., Wong, D.W.L., Harlacher, E., Orth-Alampour, S., et al., 2022. Chemokine CCL9 Is Upregulated Early in Chronic Kidney Disease and Counteracts Kidney Inflammation and Fibrosis. Biomedicines 10, 420. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10020420

- Hermann, D.M., Chopp, M., 2012. Promoting brain remodelling and plasticity for stroke recovery: therapeutic promise and potential pitfalls of clinical translation. The Lancet Neurology 11, 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70039-X
- Héroult, M., Bernard-Pierrot, I., Delbé, J., Hamma-Kourbali, Y., Katsoris, P., Barritault, D., et al., 2004. Heparin affin regulatory peptide binds to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and inhibits VEGF-induced angiogenesis. Oncogene 23, 1745–1753. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206879
- Holland, S.J., Powell, M.J., Franci, C., Chan, E.W., Friera, A.M., Atchison, R.E., et al., 2005. Multiple roles for the receptor tyrosine kinase axl in tumor formation. Cancer Res 65, 9294–9303. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0993
- Jin, K., Wang, X., Xie, L., Mao, X.O., Greenberg, D.A., 2010. Transgenic ablation of doublecortin-expressing cells suppresses adult neurogenesis and worsens stroke outcome in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 7993–7998. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000154107
- Jin, K., Wang, X., Xie, L., Mao, X.O., Zhu, W., Wang, Y., et al., 2006. Evidence for stroke-induced neurogenesis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 13198–13202. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603512103
- Joy, M.T., Ben Assayag, E., Shabashov-Stone, D., Liraz-Zaltsman, S., Mazzitelli, J., Arenas, M., et al., 2019. CCR5 Is a Therapeutic Target for Recovery after Stroke and Traumatic Brain Injury. Cell 176, 1143-1157.e13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.044
- Kitamura, T., Fujishita, T., Loetscher, P., Revesz, L., Hashida, H., Kizaka-Kondoh, S., et al., 2010. Inactivation of chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 1 (CCR1) suppresses colon cancer liver metastasis by blocking accumulation of immature myeloid cells in a mouse model. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 13063–13068. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1002372107
- Kortlever, R.M., Sodir, N.M., Wilson, C.H., Burkhart, D.L., Pellegrinet, L., Brown Swigart, L., et al., 2017. Myc Cooperates with Ras by Programming Inflammation and Immune Suppression. Cell 171, 1301-1315.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.013
- Krellman, J.W., Ruiz, H.H., Marciano, V.A., Mondrow, B., Croll, S.D., 2014. Behavioral and Neuroanatomical Abnormalities in Pleiotrophin Knockout Mice. PLOS ONE 9, e100597. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0100597
- Krupinski, J., Kaluza, J., Kumar, P., Kumar, S., Wang, J.M., 1994. Role of angiogenesis in patients with cerebral ischemic stroke. Stroke 25, 1794–1798. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.25.9.1794
- Krupinski, J., Kaluza, J., Kumar, P., Wang, M., Kumar, S., 1993. Prognostic value of blood vessel density in ischaemic stroke. The Lancet 342, 742. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(93)91734-4
- Lean, J.M., Murphy, C., Fuller, K., Chambers, T.J., 2002. CCL9/MIP-1γ and its receptor CCR1 are the major chemokine ligand/receptor species expressed by

osteoclasts. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 87, 386–393. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.10319

- Li, S., Nie, E.H., Yin, Y., Benowitz, L.I., Tung, S., Vinters, H.V., et al., 2015. GDF10 is a signal for axonal sprouting and functional recovery after stroke. Nat Neurosci 18, 1737–1745. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4146
- Li, Y.-S., Milner, P.G., Chauhan, A.K., Watson, M.A., Hoffman, R.M., Kodner, C.M., et al., 1990. Cloning and Expression of a Developmentally Regulated Protein That Induces Mitogenic and Neurite Outgrowth Activity. Science 250, 1690– 1694. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2270483
- Liang, H., Zhao, H., Gleichman, A., Machnicki, M., Telang, S., Tang, S., et al., 2019. Region-specific and activity-dependent regulation of SVZ neurogenesis and recovery after stroke. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116, 13621–13630. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1811825116
- Liebner, S., Plate, K.H., 2010. Differentiation of the brain vasculature: the answer came blowing by the Wnt. J Angiogenes Res 2, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2384-2-1
- Luengo-Fernandez, R., Violato, M., Candio, P., Leal, J., 2020. Economic burden of stroke across Europe: A population-based cost analysis. European Stroke Journal 5, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/2396987319883160
- Macas, J., Nern, C., Plate, K.H., Momma, S., 2006. Increased Generation of Neuronal Progenitors after Ischemic Injury in the Aged Adult Human Forebrain. J. Neurosci. 26, 13114–13119. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4667-06.2006
- Martí-Fàbregas, J., Romaguera-Ros, M., Gómez-Pinedo, U., Martínez-Ramírez, S., Jiménez-Xarrié, E., Marín, R., et al., 2010. Proliferation in the human ipsilateral subventricular zone after ischemic stroke. Neurology 74, 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181cbccec
- Martin, L.J., Zurek, A.A., MacDonald, J.F., Roder, J.C., Jackson, M.F., Orser, B.A., 2010. α5GABAA Receptor Activity Sets the Threshold for Long-Term Potentiation and Constrains Hippocampus-Dependent Memory. J. Neurosci. 30, 5269–5282. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4209-09.2010
- Mikelis, C., Lamprou, M., Koutsioumpa, M., Koutsioubas, A.G., Spyranti, Z., Zompra, A.A., et al., 2011. A peptide corresponding to the C-terminal region of pleiotrophin inhibits angiogenesis in vivo and in vitro. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 112, 1532–1543. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.23066
- Nikolakopoulou, A.M., Montagne, A., Kisler, K., Dai, Z., Wang, Y., Huuskonen, M.T., et al., 2019. Pericyte loss leads to circulatory failure and pleiotrophin depletion causing neuron loss. Nat Neurosci 22, 1089–1098. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0434-z
- Nusse, R., Varmus, H., 2012. Three decades of Whts: a personal perspective on how a scientific field developed. EMBO J 31, 2670–2684. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.146
- Nusse, R., Varmus, H.E., 1982. Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. Cell 31, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(82)90409-3
- Obernier, K., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2019. Neural stem cells: origin, heterogeneity and regulation in the adult mammalian brain. Development 146, dev156059. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.156059

- Ohab, J.J., Fleming, S., Blesch, A., Carmichael, S.T., 2006. A neurovascular niche for neurogenesis after stroke. J. Neurosci. 26, 13007–13016. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4323-06.2006
- Overman, J.J., Clarkson, A.N., Wanner, I.B., Overman, W.T., Eckstein, I., Maguire, J.L., et al., 2012. A role for ephrin-A5 in axonal sprouting, recovery, and activity-dependent plasticity after stroke. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109, E2230-2239. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1204386109
- Papadimitriou, E., Pantazaka, E., Castana, P., Tsalios, T., Polyzos, A., Beis, D., 2016. Pleiotrophin and its receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta as regulators of angiogenesis and cancer. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Reviews on Cancer 1866, 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2016.09.007
- Qin, E.Y., Cooper, D.D., Abbott, K.L., Lennon, J., Nagaraja, S., Mackay, A., et al., 2017. Neural Precursor-Derived Pleiotrophin Mediates Subventricular Zone Invasion by Glioma. Cell 170, 845-859.e19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.016
- Qu, Q., Sun, G., Murai, K., Ye, P., Li, W., Asuelime, G., et al., 2013. Wnt7a regulates multiple steps of neurogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 33, 2551–2559. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00325-13
- Rauvala, H., 1989. An 18-kd heparin-binding protein of developing brain that is distinct from fibroblast growth factors. EMBO J 8, 2933–2941.
- Rojewska, E., Zychowska, M., Piotrowska, A., Kreiner, G., Nalepa, I., Mika, J., 2018. Involvement of Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-1 Family Members in the Development of Diabetic Neuropathy and Their Contribution to Effectiveness of Morphine. Frontiers in Immunology 9.
- Ruan, G.-X., Kazlauskas, A., 2012. Axl is essential for VEGF-A-dependent activation of PI3K/Akt. EMBO J 31, 1692–1703. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.21
- Simats, A., García-Berrocoso, T., Penalba, A., Giralt, D., Llovera, G., Jiang, Y., et al., 2018. CCL23: a new CC chemokine involved in human brain damage. Journal of Internal Medicine 283, 461–475. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12738
- Song, S., Huang, H., Guan, X., Fiesler, V., Bhuiyan, M.I.H., Liu, R., et al., 2021. Activation of endothelial Wnt/β-catenin signaling by protective astrocytes repairs BBB damage in ischemic stroke. Prog Neurobiol 199, 101963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2020.101963
- Souttou, B., Raulais, D., Vigny, M., 2001. Pleiotrophin induces angiogenesis: Involvement of the phosphoinositide-3 kinase but not the nitric oxide synthase pathways. Journal of Cellular Physiology 187, 59–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4652(2001)9999:9999<00::AID-JCP1051>3.0.CO;2-F
- Spalding, K.L., Bergmann, O., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Huttner, H.B., et al., 2013. Dynamics of Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Adult Humans. Cell 153, 1219–1227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.002
- Tang, C., Wang, M., Wang, P., Wang, L., Wu, Q., Guo, W., 2019. Neural Stem Cells Behave as a Functional Niche for the Maturation of Newborn Neurons through the Secretion of PTN. Neuron 101, 32-44.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.10.051
- Tong, L., Shao, A., Ou, Y., Guo, Z., Manaenko, A., Dixon, B.J., et al., 2017. Recombinant Gas6 augments AxI and facilitates immune restoration in an

intracerebral hemorrhage mouse model. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 37, 1971– 1981. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X16658490

- Vicente-Rodríguez, M., Pérez-García, C., Ferrer-Alcón, M., Uribarri, M., Sánchez-Alonso, M.G., Ramos, M.P., et al., 2014. Pleiotrophin differentially regulates the rewarding and sedative effects of ethanol. Journal of Neurochemistry 131, 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12841
- Wu, G., McBride, D.W., Zhang, J.H., 2018. Axl activation attenuates neuroinflammation by inhibiting the TLR/TRAF/NF-kB pathway after MCAO in rats. Neurobiol Dis 110, 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2017.11.009
- Yeh, H.-J., He, Y.Y., Xu, J., Hsu, C.Y., Deuel, T.F., 1998. Upregulation of Pleiotrophin Gene Expression in Developing Microvasculature, Macrophages, and Astrocytes after Acute Ischemic Brain Injury. J. Neurosci. 18, 3699–3707. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-10-03699.1998
- Youn, B.S., Jang, I.K., Broxmeyer, H.E., Cooper, S., Jenkins, N.A., Gilbert, D.J., et al., 1995. A novel chemokine, macrophage inflammatory protein-related protein-2, inhibits colony formation of bone marrow myeloid progenitors. The Journal of Immunology 155, 2661–2667.
- Zelentsova, K., Talmi, Z., Abboud-Jarrous, G., Sapir, T., Capucha, T., Nassar, M., et al., 2017. Protein S Regulates Neural Stem Cell Quiescence and Neurogenesis. Stem Cells 35, 679–693. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2522
- Zhang, Z.G., Zhang, L., Jiang, Q., Zhang, R., Davies, K., Powers, C., et al., 2000. VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J Clin Invest 106, 829–838. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9369
- Zhao, X., Sato, A., Cruz, C.S.D., Linehan, M., Luegering, A., Kucharzik, T., et al., 2003. CCL9 Is Secreted by the Follicle-Associated Epithelium and Recruits Dome Region Peyer's Patch CD11b+ Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology 171, 2797–2803. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.6.2797

## 9 Acknowledgments

Many years have passed since I originally set out to work on this project and travelled to the US for the first time. It has been an exciting but also challenging journey. This work would not have been possible without the support of many. I would like to use this opportunity to acknowledge some of these people and express my gratitude.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Tom Carmichael for welcoming me into his lab at UCLA and providing me with the opportunity to work on this project. He has been a great mentor and role model. His enthusiasm and dedication to both research and teaching were truly inspiring and left me with very fond memories of my time in the lab. I would also like to thank Tim Magnus, my thesis advisor in Germany. I still recall our very first conversations and his warnings about the high frustration tolerance necessary to succeed as a bench scientist. These were the conversations that first got me interested in the field of stroke research. I am grateful for the many discussions that followed, helping me move forward with my research.

The candidate studies I performed as part of my thesis were only possible because of the groundwork laid by Andrew Brumm, generating the neurovascular interactome dataset. Beyond that, however, I am forever grateful for the many hours he put into teaching me how to survive in a wet lab. My sincere thanks to Handi (Tiffani) Zhao who initially joined the project as an undergraduate student at UCLA and eventually graduated with her master's degree. She assisted in tissue processing, imaging as well as running the Bitplane Imaris analysis.

My experience in and outside the lab would not have been the same without all the other members of the Carmichael lab: Amy, Kwan, Shira and Shahrzad have been great baymates. David, Esther, Teena, Liang, Irene, Catherine, Harriet, Elif, Justine, Songlin, Jason, Michal, Roshini, Luca, Pouria, Cynthia, Bala, Kimi and many others. Thank you all for a wonderful experience!

## 10 Curriculum vitae

[Lebenslauf aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen nicht enthalten]

[Lebenslauf aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen nicht enthalten]

## 11 Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die aus den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Ich erkläre mich einverstanden, dass meine Dissertation vom Dekanat der Medizinischen Fakultät mit einer gängigen Software zur Erkennung von Plagiaten überprüft werden kann.

Unterschrift: .....